FILED

JUN 06 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court No. 2394.
Court of Appeals No. 47022-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK C. LEWINGTON, a Washington Resident; DANIEL P. OSTLUND and MARIE F. OSTLUND, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; and ELIZABETH T. WIGHT, a Washington Resident,

Petitioners,

v.

FRANK I. PARSONS and NANCY A. PARSONS, Husband and Washington Residents,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF CYNTHIA ANNE KENNEDY, PLLC Cynthia Kennedy, WSBA No. 28212 P.O. Box 1477 Gig Harbor, Washington 98335 Telephone: (253) 853-3907

Attorneys for Petitioners Mark C. Lewington, Daniel P. Ostlund, Marie F. Ostlund and Elizabeth Wight

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1997, the Washington State Supreme Court announced a new rule of law of broad import – a paradigm shift in the way Washington Courts are to resolve covenant disputes between homeowners. *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). In such cases, the Supreme Court emphasized the importance of reaching a covenant interpretation that protects the collective interests of the community over the inconsistent interests of a particular homeowner. That new rule of law was not applied by Division II of the Court of Appeals ("Division II"), in *Lewington et al. v. Parsons* (No. 47022-5-II, May 3, 2016) (the "Decision").

This Division II Decision simply cannot be reconciled with *Riss v. Angel*. While the Decision cites *Riss v. Angel*, and acknowledges the new rule of law, it reaches a covenant interpretation that protects the free use of one homeowners' property, to the detriment of the collective property interests of the rest of the surrounding community. Division II's interpretation turns *Riss v. Angel* on its head. This Decision should be reversed in favor of one that protects the collective interests of the community, as required by *Riss v. Angel*.

II. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

The Petitioners, Mark C. Lewington, Daniel P. Ostlund and Marie F. Ostlund, and Elizabeth T. Wight (collectively herein, the "Petitioners"

or the "Neighbors") all own two-story view homes overlooking Puget Sound and the Olympic Mountains, in the Narrowmoor Third neighborhood of Tacoma. Narrowmoor Third is protected by Restrictive Covenants that were inscribed on the face of the Final Plat when the land was subdivided in 1948, which expressly state that the height of homes is "not to exceed two stories." CP 151.

The Petitioners are all uphill and adjacent neighbors of the Respondents, Frank I Parsons and Nancy A. Parsons, who purchased their home in 2014, and proceeded to construct a three-story addition. The Parsons' third story blocks the panoramic views from the Neighbors' homes, disrupts the uniform character of their neighborhood and jeopardizes their property values. CP 164, 166, 175, 187. The Parsons' third story also sets a dangerous precedent that threatens similar injuries to the broader Narrowmoor community. CP 144.

III. DECISION FOR REVIEW

The Petitioners respectfully request discretionary review of the covenant interpretation issue in Section IV of the Decision in Appendix I, *Lewington et al. v. Parsons* (No. 47022-5-II), an unpublished opinion of Division II of the Court of Appeals that was filed on May 3, 2016. Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (B)(1)-(2), review is sought on the grounds that the Decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Riss v. Angel*, 131

Wn.2d 612, and other Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedents that implement *Riss v. Angel*, including *e.g., Wilkinson v. Chiwawa*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 624 (2014); *Viking Properties, Inc. v. Holm*, 155 Wn.2d 112, 118 P.3d 522 (2005); and *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn. App. 78, 160 P.3d 1050, (Div. I 2007).

The Decision fails to apply the new rule of law from *Riss v. Angel*. Nowhere in Section IV of the Decision does Division II discuss the collective interests of the community, or explain how an interpretation that benefits the Parsons to the detriment of their Neighbors and the rest of surrounding Narrowmoor community can be consistent with the new approach required by *Riss v. Angel*. Instead, Division II's analysis looks oddly similar to the old strict construction approach, focused on definitions that frustrate the purpose of the covenants and jeopardize the collective interests of the community. The Decision fails to adequately protect the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community and simply cannot be reconciled with *Riss v. Angel*.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is the Decision's interpretation of Covenant A consistent with the Supreme Court ruling in *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, and other Supreme Court and Court of Appeals, and does it adequately protect the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Restrictive Covenants' Two-Story Height Limit.

The Narrowmoor community is located on the West Slope of Tacoma, and is graced by spectacular, sweeping, westward views of Puget Sound and the Olympic Mountains. CP 143. Narrowmoor's unobstructed panoramic views are preserved by unique Plat designs and Restrictive Covenants that were recorded on the face of the Final Plats of the four Narrowmoor "Additions" (or subdivisions) by Eivind Anderson (the "Drafter"), between 1944 and 1955. CP 145-157.

The Narrowmoor Plat drawings lay out uniformly spaced north-south streets that form terraces of large street-to-street through-lots. *Id.*, CP 143, 475. The through-lots are drawn on an east-west axis with the long sides of the lots running downslope toward the views. *Id.* This lot configuration, coupled with the two-story height limit, utilizes the natural slope to create enough vertical separation between homes to preserve panoramic 180-degree views from each lot. CP 143, 475-476.

The Restrictive Covenants for each of the Narrowmoor Additions include height restrictions that prevent tall homes and tall trees from blocking views. CP 145-157. Covenant A limits the height of homes in all four Narrowmoor Additions to just two stories. CP 146, 149, 151, 157. In Narrowmoor Third, where the Parsons' property is located, Covenant A

expressly states that homes are "not to exceed two stories" in height. CP 151. This specific "not to exceed" language has resulted in a distinctively uniform build-out of two-story homes, where daylight basement stories count as stories. CP 142, 159.

The Restrictive Covenants have preserved a remarkably uniform pattern of low-profile homes and panoramic views across the Narrowmoor Additions for sixty-seven years. CP 161. From the time Mr. Anderson platted the lots to the present day, the Narrowmoor Third community has consistently implemented Covenant A's two-story height limit to *include* daylight basement stories, so as to preserve the viewshed. CP 142, 159.

This common interpretation of Covenant A is reflected in the average height of homes in Narrowmoor Third, which has remained approximately eighteen feet (despite the thirty-five foot height once permitted and the twenty-five foot height currently permitted by the Zoning Code). CP 161. Since homes are "'not to exceed' two stories," there hasn't been any incentive to build up to the maximum height permitted by the Zoning Code. See id.

Generations of Narrowmoor homeowners have purchased homes relying upon Covenant A's two-story height limit to preserve their cherished views. CP 142, 161. For sixty-seven years, *all* of the downhill homeowners in Narrowmoor Third have complied with this common

interpretation that daylight basement stories count as stories. Id.

In the entire history of Narrowmoor Third, there has *never* been a violation of that interpretation of Covenant A on a downhill lot, where it could block the views from uphill lots.¹ Not, until now. CP 160-161, 421.

B. The Parsons' Three-Story Addition Harms the Neighbors and the Community.

Now, sixty-seven years later, Frank and Nancy Parsons have moved in with their own interpretation of Covenant A – one that would allow *their* home to have *more* than two stories. The Parsons purchased a home on a downhill lot in Narrowmoor Third in 2014, and constructed a *three*-story addition – two upper stories over a daylight basement story. CP 75, 164, 166, 175, 187, 400. The Parsons' daylight basement story clearly contributes to the height of their home. *Id.* Photographs starkly reflect how the Parsons' third story blocks portions of their Neighbors' panoramic views. CP 176-183, 400-404.

Photographs attached to the Declarations of Daniel and Marie Ostlund show the devastating impact to the views of *uphill* neighbors when the height of a *downhill* home is increased by five feet. CP 400-

Only three known story violations have ever occurred in Narrowmoor Third – at 1526 S. Jackson Ave., 1505 S. Fairview Drive, and 7501 S. Sunray Dr. – all on uphill lots in the top-most terrace of lots bordering Jackson Avenue, at the extreme uphill perimeter of the subdivision, where there are no neighbors further uphill whose views could be impacted. CP 160-161, 421. There are no known story violations on a downhill lot in Narrowmoor Third, where it could impact uphill neighbors' views. *Id.*

404. Declarations attest to the heart-break this loss of views has caused the Neighbors, diminishing enjoyment of their homes, disrupting the uniform character of their neighborhood and decreasing their property values by as much as thirty percent. CP 168, 397, 406, 416, 419. Thus, the Parsons' interpretation of Covenant A causes very real injury to their Neighbors. *See id.*

The Parsons' interpretation also gravely harms the collective interests of the broader Narrowmoor community. CP 164, 166, 175, 187. If the Parsons' third story remains, all of a sudden there will be an incentive for other newcomers to try to squeeze a third story under a twenty-five-foot roof, and the average height of homes will undoubtedly increase. *See id.* Given the nature of covenant enforcement,² this first three-story home on a downhill lot will set an unwelcome precedent that could undermine the future enforceability of Covenant A all across Narrowmoor. CP 144, 161, 419.

The only way to avoid these injuries to the collective interests of the Narrowmoor Third community, is to maintain the community's common decades-long interpretation of Covenant A that counts daylight

² See, e.g., Mount Baker Park Club, Inc. v. Colcock, 45 Wn.2d 467, 275 P.2d 733 (1954) (finding covenants unenforceable when violations are habitual and substantial). The only Narrowmoor Covenant that has been abandoned is the illegal and abhorrent discrimination clause at Covenant F, which was removed from all reprints of the Covenants decades ago and which is severable from the other Covenants. CP 151-152.

basement stories as stories. Otherwise, homeowners across Narrowmoor may lose forever the uniform plat design and spectacular panoramic views that have been the hallmark of the Narrowmoor community ever since Eivind Anderson platted it in 1948-1954.

C. Superior Court Correctly Enjoined the Parsons' Third Story.

The Superior Court found for the Neighbors on all issues, including the covenant interpretation issue. The Superior Court reached an interpretation of Covenant A that protects the collective interests of the community, consistent with *Riss v. Angel*. Since the Parsons admitted proceeding with knowledge of the Restrictive Covenants, the Superior Court applied the one remedy that could effectively redress the Neighbors' injuries and enjoined the Parson's third story. RP 28.

D. Court of Appeals Reversed in Part.

The Parsons appealed the Superior Court Decision on all issues. Division II reversed the Superior Court on the covenant interpretation issue. Division II appeared to apply an old strict construction approach instead of the new rule of law from *Riss v. Angel*, and reached an interpretation of Covenant A that fails to protect the collective interests of the community. Consequently, the Neighbors seek review of the covenant interpretation issue analyzed in Section IV of the Decision.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Supreme Court Precedent in *Riss v. Angel* Requires Washington Courts to Interpret Restrictive Covenants so as to Protect the Collective Interests of the Community.

In 1997, the Washington State Supreme Court announced a new paradigm for interpreting Restrictive Covenants in *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612. Before *Riss v. Angel*, Washington Courts interpreted covenants by applying a strict construction approach and resolving ambiguity in favor of the free use of land. In *Riss v. Angel*, the Court shifted to a new approach for interpreting covenants in disputes between homeowners – Courts now place special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the "collective interests of the community."

As the *Riss* Court explained:

The court's primary objective in interpreting restrictive covenants is to determine the intent of the parties. In determining intent, language is given its ordinary and common meaning. The document is construed in its entirety. The relevant intent, or purposes, is that of those establishing the covenants.

Historically, Washington courts have also held that restrictive covenants, being in derogation of the common law right to use land for all lawful purposes, will not be extended to any use not clearly expressed, and doubts must be resolved in favor of the free use of land. . .

Washington courts have begun to question whether rules of strict construction should be applied where the meaning of a subdivision's protective covenants are at issue and the dispute is among homeowners. . . .

The premise that protective covenants restrict the alienation of land and, therefore, should be strictly construed may not be correct. . . .

. . .

As indicated, in Washington the intent, or purpose, of the covenants, rather than free use of the land, is the paramount consideration in construing restrictive covenants. Moreover, both this Court and the Court of Appeals have refused to apply principles of strict construction so as to defeat the plain and obvious meaning of restrictive covenants.

The time has come to expressly acknowledge that where construction of restrictive covenants is necessitated by a dispute not involving the maker of the covenants, but rather among homeowners in a subdivision governed by the restrictive covenants, rules of strict construction against the grantor or in favor of the free use of land are inapplicable. The court's goal is to ascertain and give effect to those purposes intended by the covenants. Ambiguity as to the intent of those establishing the covenants may be resolved by considering evidence of the surrounding circumstances. The court will place "special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests."

Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d at 621-624 (emphasis added) (citing, e.g., Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994); Burton v, Douglas County, 65 Wn.2d 619, 399 P.2d 68 (1965); Lakes at Mercer Island Homeowners Ass'n v. Witrak, 61 Wn. App. 177, 810 P.2d 27 (1991).

Applying *Riss v. Angel's* new approach of reaching an interpretation that protects the collective interests of the community can lead to only one decision here. Covenant A's two-story height limit must

continue to be interpreted to include daylight basement stories, as it has been interpreted and implemented on the ground by the Narrowmoor Third community for the past six decades.

The Parsons' self-serving interpretation of Covenant A cannot stand, in light of *Riss v. Angel*. Courts do not interpret restrictive covenants for the advantage of specific homeowners, like the Parsons; rather, Courts interpret restrictive covenants to protect the collective interests of the community. *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d at 623. Allowing the Parsons' offending third story to stand - to the detriment of their Neighbors and the surrounding community - would be the *antithesis* of the result required by *Riss v. Angel*.

The new rule of law from *Riss v. Angel* has been applied in a number of subsequent cases, including *e.g., Wilkinson v. Chiwawa*, 180 Wn.2d 241; and *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn. App. 78. In these cases, the Courts considered the layout and design of the neighborhood, the manner in which existing homes were built-out, and the common practices of the majority of homeowners, etc., to help illuminate the purpose of the covenants. The Courts then used this evidence of how the communities had actually implemented the covenants over time to reach an interpretation that protected the collective interests of the community from being unsettled. The Division II Decision conflicts with these precedents.

In *Bauman v. Turpen*, the Court protected the collective interests of the community by reaching an interpretation of "story" that gave effect to the view-protection purpose of the Restrictive Covenants. *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn. App. at 92. The *Bauman* Court considered the character of the neighborhood, including its topography, the declining slopes toward the views, and the build-out and height of existing homes, and determined that the purpose of the "story" restriction was to preserve views. *Id.* at 87-91. Accordingly, the *Bauman* Court rejected interpretations of the term "story" that jeopardized views in favor of an interpretation that preserved views from uphill properties. *Id.*

Similarly here, the unique terraced layout of the Narrowmoor Third neighborhood, its long street-to-street through-lots and sloping topography are all oriented toward the views. The uniform build-out of low-profile two-story homes serves to preserve those views. The consistent build-out of two-story homes on downhill lots (counting daylight basements as stories), protects the views from uphill lots. Based upon this evidence, just as in *Bauman v. Turpen*, Division II should have found that the purpose of the two-story height limit was to preserve the uniform plat design that protects views. Accordingly, Division II should have reached an interpretation of "story" that protected the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community in preserving their views.

In *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa*, 180 Wn.2d 241, the Court protected the collective interests of the community by reaching an interpretation of "commercial" uses that was consistent with the Chiwawa community's decades-long common interpretation and implementation of their restrictive covenants. The *Wilkinson* Court found that the Chiwawa was a vacation community, which for years had offered their homes as short-term and long-term rentals despite a prohibition on "commercial" uses in their restrictive covenants. *Id.* at 254. Accordingly, the *Wilkinson* Court resisted a new interpretation of "commercial" uses that would upset the settled expectations of the Chiwawa community and upheld the Community's long-standing interpretation.

Similarly here, the Narrowmoor Third community has for sixty-seven years consistently interpreted, implemented and enforced their common interpretation, that Covenant A's two-story height limit counts daylight basement stories as stories. CP 160-161, 421. In all that time, there has never been a known story violation of the Covenants that apply to the Parsons' home on any of the downhill lots in Narrowmoor Third. *Id.* The community's decades-long adherence to this common interpretation has preserved the views, neighborhood character and property values for scores of Narrowmoor homeowners. CP 142, 161, 164, 166, 175, 187. Based upon this evidence, just as in *Wilkinson v*.

Chiwawa, Division II should have found the long-standing practice of the majority of Narrowmoor homeowners was to count daylight basement stories as stories. Accordingly, Division II should have reached an interpretation of Covenant A that protected the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community by maintaining the community's decades-long interpretation and well settled expectations with regard to views.

B. The Superior Court Decision Should be Reinstated, as it Protects the Collective Interests of the Community.

Like the *Bauman* and *Wilkinson* Courts, the Superior Court in this case reached an interpretation that was consistent with the view protection purpose of the Covenants and the Narrowmoor community's decades-long common interpretation of counting daylight basement stories as stories. The Superior Court decision protected the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community by preventing the Parsons from blocking views and upsetting the community's decades-long adherence to their common interpretation. This result is consistent with *Riss v. Angel*.

The Superior Court found the Drafter's intent clearly expressed in the specific phrasing of Covenant A – "'not to exceed' two stories." The Superior Court found this language unambiguous – nothing more than two stories is allowed. RP 28. Washington Courts give covenant language its "plain and obvious meaning." Wilkinson v. Chiwawa, 180 Wn.2d at 250

(citing *Mains Farm v. Worthington*, 121 Wn.2d 810, 812, 854 P.2d 1072 (1993)). Accordingly, the Superior Court ruled "not to exceed two stories" means that anything more than two stories (including a daylight basement story) is not allowed. RP 28. Since the Parsons constructed two upper stories over a daylight basement story, the Superior Court properly ruled the Parsons' home violated Covenant A and enjoined the Parsons' third story.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Should be Reversed, in part, as it Fails to Protect the Collective Interests of the Community.

Division II, on the other hand, found Mr. Anderson's language ambiguous and looked to other extrinsic evidence to illuminate his intent and the purpose of the covenants. Like the *Bauman* and *Wilkinson* Courts, Division II should have focused its analysis on Mr. Anderson's unique layout and design for the neighborhood, the uniform two-story build-out of the existing homes and the decades-long common implementation of Covenant A by the majority of homeowners, in order to reach an interpretation that protects the collective interests of the community.

Division II should have analyzed the Narrowmoor Third Final Plat in its entirety, reviewing Covenant A in the context of the corresponding Plat drawing, for evidence of the Drafter's intent and the purpose of the Covenants. *See* CP 145-157. The view-protection purpose of the

Covenants is evident in everything Mr. Anderson drew and inscribed on the face of the Final Plat. *See* CP 150-152. The terraced street-to-street through-lot design creates the panoramic viewshed, and the Covenants preserve the uniformity of that design by prohibiting tall homes and trees that could block views. *Id.*; CP 475-478.

Instead Division II focused on extrinsic definitions. And, not just the plain and obvious broad definition of "story" from the contemporaneous Zoning Code, but highly technical definitions from the contemporaneous Building Code that frustrate the view-protection purpose of the Covenants. Division II's Decision acknowledges that the Zoning Code governed land use actions like the platting action Mr. Anderson was undertaking, on page 16. Accordingly, Division II should have used the Zoning Code definition of "story" to help illuminate the Drafter's intent, particularly as this definition gives effect to the view-protection purpose of the Covenants.

The Zoning Code was Mr. Anderson's likely frame of reference, as the evolution in his phrasing of Covenant A for the four Narrowmoor Plats mirrors the evolution of the definition of "story" in the Zoning Code. As the Zoning Code definitions evolved to be less protective of views (and more like the Building Code definitions), Mr. Anderson changed the phrasing of his height limit so it would continue to preserve the uniformity

of his design and the view-protection purpose of his covenants across all four of his Narrowmoor Additions.

Up until the time when Mr. Anderson drafted the Restrictive Covenants for Narrowmoor Third in 1948, Tacoma's Zoning Code broadly defined a "story" as *any* space between floors:

Story is that portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next above it, or if there be no floor above it, then the space between such floor and the ceiling next above it.

CP 89; CP 442 (emphasis added). Thus, the common land use definition, in the jurisdiction where the Drafter recorded the Covenants for his land use action (platting Narrowmoor Third), at the time when undertook that land use action, counted daylight basement stories as stories. While this broad and inclusive Zoning Code definition of "story" was still in effect, Mr. Anderson used the same simple phrasing for Covenant A for the first three Narrowmoor Additions: "one detached single-family dwelling *not to exceed two stories in height.*"

By the time Mr. Anderson recorded the Narrowmoor Fourth Covenants in 1954, the Zoning Code had been amended to include a more technical definition of "story" that excluded some basement spaces, similar to the Building Code. CP 442-444. Mr. Anderson then phrased Covenant A for Narrowmoor Fourth differently: "one detached single-

family dwelling *not to exceed one story in height, exclusive of a* 'basement story." CP 157 (emphasis added). The timing of this change and Mr. Anderson's use of the term "basement story" provides further evidence that he intended daylight basement stories to count as stories.

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