RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 05, 2016, 4:41 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93194-1 [Court of Appeals No. 47022-5-II]

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK C. LEWINGTON, a Washington Resident; DANIEL P. OSTLUND and MARIE F. OSTLUND, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; and ELIZABETH T. WIGHT, a Washington Resident,

Petitioners,

v.

FRANK I. PARSONS and NANCY A. PARSONS, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners' basis for requesting review is their allegation that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Riss v. Angel* and subsequent cases "implementing" *Riss.* Petition at 3. There is no conflict. The Court of Appeals was well aware of *Riss* and applied the proper standard. The fact that the court did not adopt Petitioners' covenant interpretation or views about the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community does not mean the court did not apply the law. Supreme Court review of this case is not warranted under RAP 13.4, and the Court should deny the petition.

A. <u>The Court Of Appeals Applied The Proper Standards</u> Of Covenant Interpretation, Including *Riss v. Angel.*

1. *Riss* Was The Primary Reason The Court Did Not Apply Collateral Estoppel.

Perhaps even more than in a typical covenant case, the Court of Appeals was acutely aware of the interpretation standard adopted in *Riss*. The Parsons had asserted in this case that collateral estoppel barred relitigation of Narrowmoor's "two stories in height" restriction because the exact same issue had already been decided in *Lester*. *See, e.g.*, Br. of Appellants at 30-34. The Court of Appeals' primary basis for declining to apply collateral estoppel was the "significant change in the law of restrictive covenants" as announced in *Riss*. Opinion at 7-10. The court explained this shift in the law and acknowledged that reconsideration of the covenant under the modified standard "could readily cause a different result." *Id.* at 9-10. The Court of Appeals' entire analysis of the covenant was against this backdrop.

2. The Court Of Appeals Performed A Detailed Analysis Of The Covenant In A Manner Consistent With Washington Law And *Riss*.

After addressing collateral estoppel, the Court of Appeals detailed the covenant interpretation standards again in its analysis of the covenant. Opinion at 10-11. The court expressly stated that it was placing "special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation of the restrictive covenants that protects the homeowners' collective interests, rather than that which favors the free use of land." *Id.* at 11. Consistent with Washington law, the primary focus of the court's inquiry was the intent of the drafter. *See id.* at 10 & 12-17; *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 250, 327 P.3d 614 (2014); *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 621-23.

The Court of Appeals provided a thorough analysis of Covenant A's meaning. The court's discussion included, but was not limited to, the plain and ordinary meaning of the covenant language; a comparison of Covenant A to other Narrowmoor covenant provisions, including Covenants D and E; whether the drafter intended Covenant A to protect views, or create uniformity in the Narrowmoor neighborhood, or

-8-

both; and extrinsic evidence in the form of the building and zoning laws in effect when the covenant was drafted. *Id.* at 10-17.

In reviewing extrinsic evidence, the Court of Appeals properly considered the contemporaneous laws when Covenant A was drafted in 1947. As it correctly observed, Washington courts presume that a drafter crafts restrictive covenants consistently with relevant laws in existence at the time, unless the covenants indicate a contrary intent. Opinion at 15 (citing *Reynolds v. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 23 Wn. App. 286, 290-91, 592 P.2d 1121 (1979); *Fischler v. Nicklin*, 51 Wn.2d 518, 522, 319 P.2d 1098 (1958); *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 98-99, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980); *In re Kane*, 181 Wash. 407, 410, 43 P.2d 619 (1935)). In contrast, Petitioners' proffered evidence of what *current* Narrowmoor residents believe the drafter intended is not competent evidence. *Bloome v. Haverly*, 154 Wn. App. 129, 138-39, 225 P.3d 330 (2010) (property owners' personal beliefs as to scope and meaning of restrictive view covenant inadmissible to determine meaning of the covenant).

Here, Tacoma's 1939 Building Code had an unambiguous, straightforward method for determining if a basement is a "story":

If the finished floor level directly above a basement or cellar is more than six feet (6') above grade such basement or cellar shall be considered a story.

-9-

CP 291. It is undisputed that the Parsons' basement is not a story under this definition. Opinion at 17-18; CP 366-81. The Parsons' architect likewise noted that a home design such as the Parsons' is commonly referred to as a two-story home with a daylight basement. CP 383 (\P 6).

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the 1939 Building Code supplies the definition of "story" under the covenant rather than the city's Zoning Ordinance. Although the definition of "story" in each of the regulations is virtually identical,⁵ the Building Code provides the language to clarify when a partially subterranean level (either a basement or cellar) is considered a "story" for purposes of building design and construction the precise concern here. CP 89, 291; *see* Opinion at 16-17.

Moreover, as acknowledged by the Court of Appeals, the Zoning Ordinance refers to the Building Code in addressing height restrictions:

Section 12. <u>Height Limitations</u>. The height of buildings shall conform with the requirements of the Building Code of the City of Tacoma.

CP 96; Opinion at 17. This suggests even more strongly that the Building Code would be the appropriate reference point in establishing height limitations for structures in a subdivision. *See id.*

⁵ The Zoning Ordinance defines a story as "[t]hat portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the floor next above...", CP 89, while the Building Code defines a story as "that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the upper surface of the floor next above...." CP 291.

In short, the Court of Appeals was fully aware of the *Riss* standard when it interpreted the Narrowmoor covenant and made clear it was applying that standard. The fact that Petitioners disagree with the outcome of the court's analysis does not mean that analysis conflicts with *Riss*.

B. <u>The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With</u> Other Authority.

The Court of Appeals' decision likewise does not conflict with the other authority discussed by Petitioners, namely, *Bauman v. Turpen*, 139 Wn. App. 78, 160 P.3d 1050 (2007), and *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). Those cases involved different facts than the ones presented here. This Court has "cautioned that the interpretation of a particular covenant is largely dependent upon the facts of the case at hand." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 253. To the extent any other case is helpful in interpreting the Narrowmoor covenant, *Day v. Santorsola*, 118 Wn. App. 746, 76 P.3d 1190 (2003), is the most on point.

Day similarly involved a subdivision on a hillside where the defendants wanted to build a two-story house with a daylight basement. Day v. Santorsola, 118 Wn. App. 746, 749, 76 P.3d 1190 (2003). The subdivision in Day had distinct covenants relating to restrictions on building heights and restrictions on tree heights that are remarkably similar to Covenants A and D of the Narrowmoor Third Addition including the language "not to exceed stories in height." *See id.* at 750; *see also* Br. of Appellants at 26-28 (comparing the precise language).

The *Day* court held that the disputed covenant was more properly categorized as a height restriction rather than a view restriction, explaining that, unlike the restrictive covenant pertaining to trees which specifically identified view protection as its purpose, the dwelling restriction contained no similar language. *Id.* at 756. As the court observed:

Had the developer intended to make view a specific consideration with respect to the permissible height of houses, it could have included a provision similar to the one regarding the height of shrubs and trees.

Id. The court pointed out that the covenant had a very specific reference to allowable height ("two stories *in height*") and noted that several other similar homes had been approved. *Id.* at 756-58; *cf.* CP 239-62 (showing numerous Narrowmoor homes that exceed two stories in height under Petitioners' interpretation of the covenant).

Petitioners here ignore *Day* and continue to rely on *Bauman*, a case with substantially different facts and covenants. For example, in *Bauman*, each restrictive covenant was lot-specific based upon each parcel's location on the hillside (there were no restrictions on the uphill lots).

139 Wn. App. at 83. The *Bauman* court specifically distinguished its ruling from the *Day* ruling:

We held that the record in *Day* supported the trial court's findings and conclusions that view preservation was not the primary purpose of the two-story restriction because the drafter expressly limited the height of vegetation to preserve the views but did not include similar language in the home restrictions.

Id. at 90.

The same distinction is true here. Covenant A applies to all lots in Narrowmoor Third Addition (including uphill lots) and does not reference views, while Covenant D specifically references view protection and only applies to certain lots (those west of Fairview Drive). CP 236. There is no conflict between this case and *Bauman*.

Petitioners likewise fail to establish any conflict with *Wilkinson*. *Wilkinson* involved invalidation of a covenant amendment that prohibited the rental of homes in the community for less than 30 days. 180 Wn.2d at 245. In interpreting the original covenant, the court declined to adopt a more restrictive reading where the covenant limited only the type and appearance of buildings that may be constructed. *Id.* at 254. Rather than presenting a conflict, the Court of Appeals' decision is actually consistent with *Wilkinson* by applying the Narrowmoor covenant as written, as opposed to inferring other purposes (such as view protection) that are not expressed in the instrument.⁶

The decision here is also consistent with *Wilkinson* in avoiding absurd results. Courts "reject 'forced or strained' interpretations of covenant language if they lead to absurd results." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 255 (quoting *Viking Props., Inc. v. Holm*, 155 Wn.2d 112, 122, 188 P.3d 322 (2005)). Petitioners' interpretation that basements, regardless of their relationship to grade, are "stories in height" defies common sense. *See Knappett v. Locke*, 92 Wn.2d 643, 645, 600 P.2d 1257 (1979) (recognizing an absurd result where proposed interpretation of city ordinance would result "in a basement being classified as a 'story' even if the basement is otherwise almost wholly underground").

Even under Petitioners' interpretation of the covenant, the Parsons could have demolished their existing home and constructed the house directly on a concrete slab or foundation, which would not have changed their final roof elevation. CP 233 (¶ 18), 273-76; *see Lester* Opinion at 4 (CP 351). That sort of result provides no real benefit to the community interests Petitioners purport to protect (it only results in lost basement

⁶ Further, the *Wilkinson* language relied on by Petitioners concerning the "settled expectation of landowners" is actually from the Court's discussion regarding amendments to restrictive covenants, which the Court also declined to allow in that case. *Id.* at 256.

space). An absurd interpretation of the covenant is not in the collective interests of the Narrowmoor community.

V. CONCLUSION

After careful review, the Court of Appeals unanimously concluded that the Parsons' basement does not qualify as a "story in height" under the Narrowmoor covenant. The court's decision does not conflict with *Riss v. Angel* or any other decision identified by Petitioners. The Court of Appeals expressly applied this Court's rules for covenant interpretation as modified by *Riss*. It conducted a thorough analysis and, as the court stated, placed special emphasis on reaching an interpretation that protects Narrowmoor homeowners' collective interests. Petitioners simply disagree with the court's conclusions. Petitioners show no valid basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4, and their petition should be denied.